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INTRODUCTION 

In this public relations stunt dressed as a federal lawsuit, the operator of the Philadelphia 

Convention Center (“Authority”) sues the Carpenters Union (“Carpenters” or “MRC”) for 

engaging in labor protests to reclaim its members’ lost jobs.  The Carpenters began these protests 

after the Authority collaborated with rival unions to exclude the Carpenters from working at the 

Center and to divide up their jobs among the other unions.  The Carpenters have pursued their 

remedies principally through First Amendment-protected, non-violent protests, as well as under 

the labor laws, recently scoring a significant procedural victory in the Pennsylvania Labor 

Relations Board, which has scheduled a hearing to determine whether the Authority must 

reinstate the Carpenters Union and pay backpay to its members.  On the heels of that ruling, the 

Authority filed this lawsuit, sensationally accusing the Carpenters of “racketeering” and 

“extortion.” 

The Carpenters’ protests and efforts at legal redress are, however, far from the stuff of 

RICO.  To be sure, the demonstrations and rallies at the Center have been noticeable and, as the 

Authority alleges, disruptive—in other words, precisely what labor protests are supposed to be.  

But even the Complaint’s best efforts to scandalize the Carpenters’ activities cannot fully mask 

the true lawful nature of these protests.  Notably, the Complaint does not—and could not—allege 

that anyone associated with the Carpenters has been arrested, charged, or cited in any way as a 

result of the protests.  With one exception, the allegedly “extortionate” protests have consisted of 

garden-variety demonstrations outside the Convention Center, which until this lawsuit not even 

the Authority claimed were unlawful.  That one exception was on a single day during the Auto 

Show, when Carpenters members allegedly bought tickets to the show, entered the Center, 

distributed many leaflets, and a few (mostly unnamed) Carpenters allegedly behaved 

disruptively—though again, they did nothing to inspire any arrests. 
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The federal RICO statute punishes patterns of criminal activity, not uncouth labor 

protests, and it is not designed to be a weapon for employers to squelch inconvenient union 

activity.  The allegations in this Complaint, even assuming (as we do for purposes of this motion) 

that they are true, do not come close to satisfying civil RICO’s many demanding elements. 

First, the Complaint alleges no predicate “racketeering” offenses.  The Authority 

contends that the Carpenters’ protests are federal criminal acts of “extortion” under the Hobbs 

Act.  This is wrong, indeed absurd, for multiple reasons.  Labor activity—even outright violent 

activity, which the Carpenters’ actions are not alleged to be—is categorically excluded from the 

Hobbs Act under the Enmons doctrine as long as it is designed to achieve legitimate labor ends.  

Here, it is apparent from the face of the Complaint that the Carpenters’ protests were designed to 

restore their jobs at the Center, a goal squarely in the heartland of the Enmons rule. 

Even if not protected by Enmons, the alleged activities still would not constitute a Hobbs 

Act violation, which consists of the wrongful use of force or fear to deprive the victim of money 

or property.  The Complaint’s few allegations of “force” are conclusory, and the perpetrators are 

not identified.  Federal pleading rules require far more specificity.  The Complaint’s allegations 

of extortion through non-violent acts creating “economic fear” are meritless, both because the 

“fearsome” activities are First Amendment protected and because they were designed to achieve 

legitimate labor objectives, not extortionate payoffs.  Finally, on this point, there is no allegation 

that the Carpenters tried to extort the Authority of “money or property.”  Rather, the Authority 

alleges only a loss of its intangible rights to be free of Carpenter interference—but the Supreme 

Court has squarely held that such intangible “property” does not qualify. 

Second, extortion aside, the Complaint does not sufficiently allege multiple other 

elements of the civil RICO statute: 
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Pattern:  RICO requires a continuous pattern of multiple racketeering acts, extending 

over a long time period.  Here, the most charitable reading of the Complaint shows that it focuses 

on the Carpenters’ actions surrounding the 2015 Auto Show.  That is an incident, not a pattern. 

Enterprise:  RICO applies to defendants who commit racketeering acts through an 

“enterprise.”  The enterprise must be separate and distinct from the defendants themselves.  

Here, it is not:  The Complaint alleges that the Carpenters Union is the “enterprise,” and it gins 

up an “association in fact” enterprise made up of the Union itself and some of its individual 

officers, employees, and members.  This runs afoul of the distinctness requirement.  

Proximate Causation:  RICO imposes a heightened proximate causation requirement that 

applies at the pleading stage.  The plaintiff must allege an injury to its business or property that is 

direct and not contingent on injury to a third party.  The Complaint utterly fails to satisfy this 

requirement, as any alleged injuries to the Authority are speculative, remote, and dependent on 

third parties’ responses to the Carpenters’ protests. 

In light of civil RICO’s many elements, complaints that allege RICO violations often 

require courts to engage in difficult legal analysis.  This is not one of those cases.  The 

Complaint is far outside the realm of “extortion” or “racketeering,” and RICO has no role to play 

in resolving the parties’ labor dispute.  This lawsuit can and should be dismissed, promptly and 

with prejudice. 

THE ALLEGATIONS IN THE COMPLAINT 

A. The Parties 

Plaintiff Pennsylvania Convention Center Authority is an agency of the Commonwealth 

of Pennsylvania that operates the Convention Center in downtown Philadelphia.  Compl. ¶ 10.  

Defendants are the Metropolitan Regional Council of Carpenters and certain individual MRC 
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officers, employees, and/or members.  Id. ¶¶ 11-18.1  Until May 2014, members of the MRC 

provided labor to exhibitors and customers at tradeshows and other events at the Center.  Id. 

¶¶ 29, 32.  The Authority itself does not employ the Carpenters’ members,2 but the Carpenters’ 

work at the Center historically has been governed, in part, by a Customer Satisfaction Agreement 

with the Authority. 

B. The Original Customer Satisfaction Agreement 

In 2003, the Authority, Elliott-Lewis Corporation (the private labor broker for the 

Center), the Carpenters, and five other labor unions entered into a Customer Satisfaction 

Agreement (“CSA”) concerning the Center.3  Compl. ¶¶ 21-24, 27.  The CSA was designed to 

“ensure predictability, safety, consistency, uniformity, and cost effectiveness for the customers, 

exhibitors, and all those working” at the Center.  Id. ¶ 21.  To accomplish those objectives, the 

CSA “limited the work that customers and exhibitors may perform on their own and required 

that they engage a designated labor supplier for such show labor necessary to put on their shows 

and meetings.”  Id.  The CSA formally expired in 2013, but it governed the performance of show 

labor work at the Center until May 2014, while the parties sought to negotiate a new CSA.  Id. 

¶ 23. 

                                                 
1 Edward Coryell, Sr. is the Executive-Secretary-Treasurer and Business Manager of the MRC; 
Edward Coryell, Jr. is the Assistant Executive Secretary-Treasurer and Business Agent of the 
MRC; J.R. Hocker and Richard Rivera are Organizers; and Ronald Curran, Kenyatta Bundy, and 
Richard Washlick are Members.  Compl.¶¶ 11-18.  Mr. Coryell, Sr. also served on the 
Authority’s Board of Directors.  Id. ¶ 12. 
2 The Carpenters work under the direction of individual contractors and are compensated through 
the labor broker, Elliott-Lewis Corporation. 
3  The other five unions were the Teamsters Local 107 (“Teamsters”), the International 
Brotherhood of Electrical Workers, Local 98 (“Electricians”), the Laborers’ International Union 
of North America, Local 332 (“Laborers”), the International Alliance of Theatrical Stage 
Employees Artists and Allied Crafts of the United States and Canada, Local 8 (“Stagehands”), 
and the International Association of Bridge, Structural, and Ornamental Iron Workers, Local 405 
(“Riggers”).  See Compl. ¶¶ 27-28. 
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C. The Authority Locks Out the Carpenters 

The parties negotiated for more than one year, with the Authority, Elliott-Lewis, and 

SMG (the manager of the Center) insisting on certain changes to the CSA that the Carpenters and 

other unions opposed.  Compl. ¶¶ 23-25.  The dispute came to a head in May 2014, as the 

Carpenters’ collective bargaining agreement with Elliott-Lewis was set to expire on May 10.  Id. 

¶¶ 24, 30.  On May 4, 2014, the Authority sent a draft CSA to the unions that “included a firm, 

48-hour deadline” for the unions either to accept or reject.  Id. ¶ 24.  The Authority, Elliott-

Lewis, SMG, and four of the unions signed the new CSA by May 6; the Carpenters and the 

Teamsters did not.  Id. ¶ 27.  Immediately thereafter, the four signatory unions met with the 

Authority to “reconfigure[]” the “work jurisdictions” of the Carpenters and the Teamsters.  Id. 

¶ 30.  Although the Carpenters signed the new CSA a day later on May 7, 2014—three days 

before its collective bargaining agreement with Elliott-Lewis was to expire—the Authority took 

the position that its signature was not “timely” and “refused” to accept it.  Id. ¶¶ 29, 31.  As a 

result, the Carpenters “have not been called to work in the Convention Center” since May 9, 

2014.  Id. ¶¶ 29-31. 

The labor dispute between the Authority and the Carpenters has been the subject of 

substantial litigation, as public filings reflect.4  Within a week after the Authority locked the 

Carpenters out of the Center, the Carpenters filed unfair labor practices charges with the National 

Labor Relations Board (“NLRB”) against the Authority, Elliott-Lewis, and SMG.  See Ex. A.  

On July 14, 2014, the NLRB dismissed the charges on jurisdictional grounds because of the 

                                                 
4 This Court, when deciding a motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6), may take judicial notice of 
“matters of public record.”  Schmidt v. Skolas, 770 F.3d 241, 249 (3d Cir. 2014).  Such matters 
include “the existence of [] state administrative and state court opinions,” M & M Stone Co. v. 
Pennsylvania, 388 F. App’x 156, 162 (3d Cir. 2010), and “NLRB charge[s],” Berg v. USW, 
Local 3733, No. 98-308, 1998 WL 165005, at *7 (E.D. Pa. Apr. 8, 1998). 
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Authority’s quasi-governmental status.  See Ex. B.  The NLRB’s order, however, went out of its 

way to note that the Carpenters had “presented evidence of extensive conduct supporting 

findings that the Authority acted in derogation of bargaining obligations imposed by Section 

8(a)(5) of the [National Labor Relations] Act.”  Id. at 2.  The Carpenters then filed charges with 

the Pennsylvania Labor Relations Board.  The Authority moved to dismiss for lack of 

jurisdiction and failure to state a claim.  The Hearing Examiner denied the motion on April 16, 

2015.  See Ex. C.  Three weeks later, the Authority filed the RICO Complaint in this case.   

D. The Carpenters Protest the Lockout 

According to the Complaint, the Carpenters have held numerous demonstrations and 

rallies at the Center since the Authority barred MRC members from working there.  Compl. 

¶¶ 34-58.  While its focus is the events during two days of the Philadelphia International Auto 

Show in early 2015, see id. ¶¶ 49-70, the Complaint seeks to paint a picture of a larger “pattern” 

of conduct.  It alleges that Carpenters’ demonstrations between May 2014 and early February 

2015 were part of “an extortionate plan to disrupt key shows” aimed at “forc[ing] the [Authority] 

to abandon the CSA.”  Id. ¶¶ 4, 33.  Regarding these demonstrations, the Complaint alleges a 

variety of classic, First Amendment-protected advocacy activity, which it tries to portray as 

extortionate:  demonstrations and protests, distribution of handbills, postings to a website and 

other social media, an advertisement in a trade newspaper, and letters to public officials.  See id. 

¶¶ 34-46, 73-74, 77-79.  Notably, the Complaint does not allege any arrests, citations, or violent 

acts associated with any of this conduct, because there have been none.   

1. Demonstrations and rallies 

The Complaint alleges that the Carpenters have held monthly or bi-monthly “illegal mass 

pickets” and “protests” that have created a “major disturbance.”  Compl. ¶¶ 35-45.  For example, 

the Complaint alleges that (1) MRC “agents” “chant[ed] slogans on megaphones, blar[ed] air 
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 7 

horns and whistles, and block[ed] traffic around” the Center in July 2014, id. ¶ 35; (2) “massed 

near entrances to the Convention Center for the purpose of intimidating employees, patrons, and 

vendors” and “stalked building management and harassed them by loudly blowing whistles and 

air horns close to their persons, using profane and vulgar language, and acting in a physically 

menacing and intimidating fashion” in August 2014, id. ¶¶ 36, 38; (3) “surrounded the 

Convention Center, once again disrupting all vehicular and pedestrian traffic” in September 

2014, id. ¶ 41; (4) engaged in “disruptive and threatening mass picketing” in October 2014, id. 

¶ 42; (5) held “illegal mass demonstration[s]” and “mass picketing” at two events in November 

2014—one which allegedly involved “blowing whistles” and “screaming” at attendees, and the 

other which allegedly caused a group of attendees to “re-route shuttles buses,” id. ¶¶ 44-45; and 

(6) “videotape[d] members of building management as they entered and exited” the Center, id. 

¶ 39. 

The Complaint also describes the Carpenters’ written advocacy related to the dispute at 

the Center.  It alleges that the MRC sponsored a “Web site, www.fairdealphilly.com, [stating] 

that the Carpenters ‘were not going anywhere’” “‘until this unfair and illegal lockout ends, and 

our members are back at their jobs.’”  Compl. ¶ 76.  This website allegedly “broadcast[s] videos 

of the mass picketing and traffic disruptions,” among other things.  Id.  The Complaint also 

alleges that the MRC’s Twitter page “directly threatened the Flower Show” by tweeting 

“Protests @PAConvention will continue even during @PhilaFlowerShow!  Lockout hurts 

everyone.  Plant seeds of fairness!”  Id. ¶ 74.  The Complaint further claims that certain unnamed 

“member[s] or agent[s]” of MRC used “the popular classified advertisement website 

craigslist.com as another weapon in their war on the [Center].”  Id. ¶¶ 47-48.  The Complaint 

asserts, “upon information and belief,” that a “fraudulent ‘Help Wanted’ advertisement” was 
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posted on Craigslist “calling for applicants to apply for work at the . . . Center.”  Id.  The 

Complaint also takes issue with (1) the Carpenters’ “letter-writing campaign” to “national and 

local” officials of the Democratic National Committee, id. ¶¶ 78-79; and (2) one advertisement 

in the USAE’s “national, weekly newspaper” that criticized the Authority and referenced the 

“unfair and illegal lockout,” id. ¶ 77. 

The Complaint also includes a smattering of vague and conclusory allegations that refer 

to “assault,” “battery,” “violence,” “stalking,” and “destruction of property.”  See Compl. ¶¶ 5, 

19, 37-38, 44, 46, 49, 71.  The Complaint does not identify any individuals who allegedly 

committed these acts, other than describing them as “agents” of the Carpenters.  Despite alleging 

a strong police presence at most, if not all, of the demonstrations (including the Auto Show), id. 

¶¶ 34-35, 40, 42, 61, 69, the Complaint does not allege that the Defendants or any members or 

agents of the MRC at any time have been cited, arrested, or charged criminally with respect to 

any demonstrations at or related to the Center.5 

2. The Auto Show 

The focus of the Complaint is the 2015 Auto Show.  The Authority alleges that, at a 

“Black Tie Tailgate” event on January 30, 2015, “80 to 100 members of MRCC gathered outside 

of the Convention Center” where the valet parking was located, and some unnamed individuals 

“surrounded [attendees’] vehicles, pounded on the windows and doors, and made rude and 

obscene comments to the occupants.”  Id. ¶¶ 52-53.  The Complaint alleges that the MRC posted 

videos of these actions to its website (www.fairdealphilly.com).  Id. ¶ 53.  Then, according to the 

                                                 
5 The Complaint also contains allegations about co-defendant Richard Washlick’s Facebook 
page.  Compl. ¶¶ 83-85.  Mr. Washlick is filing a separate motion to dismiss that will address 
these allegations.  Mr. Washlick’s Facebook postings obviously are not actionable as “extortion.”  
In addition, to the extent the Complaint means to allege that Mr. Washlick’s conduct is somehow 
attributable to the Carpenters or the other individual defendants, it contains absolutely no factual 
allegations that would support such a claim. 
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Complaint, on February 6 the Carpenters purchased 200 tickets to the Auto Show and 

“infiltrated” the event the next day.  Id. ¶¶ 55, 58.  The Complaint alleges that, inside the Center, 

“[s]ome [unnamed] Carpenters locked themselves inside exhibitor vehicles and refused to come 

out,” “tampered with and damaged exhibitor vehicles,” and “stuff[ed] exhibitor vehicles with 

MRC flyers” concerning the lockout.  Id. ¶¶ 59, 61; see id. ¶¶ 62-69.  The Complaint further 

alleges that Defendant Curran was asked to leave the Center, initially resisted, but ultimately left.  

Id. ¶ 61.  The Complaint does not reference any demonstrations after February 7.  Id. ¶¶ 73-79. 

LEGAL STANDARD 

On a motion to dismiss pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6), a complaint’s factual 

allegations must be accepted as true and construed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving 

party.  Phillips v. County of Allegheny, 515 F.3d 224, 233 (3d Cir. 2008).  But that “tenet” is 

inapplicable to legal conclusions:  “Threadbare recitals of the elements of a cause of action, 

supported by mere conclusory statements, do not suffice.”  Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 

(2009); see Chester Cty. Aviation Holdings, Inc. v. Chester Cty. Aviation Auth., 967 F. Supp. 2d 

1098, 1105 (E.D. Pa. 2013) (“A court need not, however, credit ‘bald assertions’ or ‘legal 

conclusions’ when deciding a motion to dismiss.” (quoting Morse v. Lower Merion Sch. Dist., 

132 F.3d 902, 906 (3d Cir. 1997))).  “Factual allegations must be enough to raise a right to relief 

above the speculative level.”  Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 555 (2007).  A 

complaint must plead “enough facts to state a claim to relief that is plausible on its face.”  Id. at 

570.  “A claim has facial plausibility when the plaintiff pleads factual content that allows the 

court to draw the reasonable inference that the defendant is liable for the misconduct alleged.”  

Iqbal, 556 U.S. at 678.  “[W]here the well-pleaded facts do not permit the court to infer more 

than the mere possibility of misconduct, the complaint has alleged—but it has not show[n]—that 
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the pleader is entitled to relief.”  Id. at 679 (second alteration in original) (internal quotation 

marks omitted); see Fowler v. UPMC Shadyside, 578 F.3d 203, 211 (3d Cir. 2009).   

ARGUMENT 

I. THE COMPLAINT DOES NOT ALLEGE A VIOLATION OF 18 U.S.C. §§ 1962(c) 
AND 1964(c) 

The Complaint should be dismissed because it fails to plead the elements necessary to 

state a civil RICO claim under 18 U.S.C. §§ 1962(c) and 1964(c).  To survive a motion to 

dismiss, the plaintiff must sufficiently plead the defendant’s (1) conduct (2) of an enterprise 

(3) through a pattern (4) of racketeering activity that (5) causes injury to plaintiff’s business or 

property.  See Sedima, S.P.R.L. v. Imrex Co., 473 U.S. 479, 496 (1985).  As demonstrated below, 

the Complaint pleads none of these elements and should be dismissed with prejudice. 

A. The Complaint Does Not Allege Predicate Acts of “Racketeering Activity” 

“Racketeering activity” can be any of a “list of criminal activities that constitute predicate 

acts for purposes of RICO.”  See Warden v. McLelland, 288 F.3d 105, 114 (3d Cir. 2002) (citing 

18 U.S.C. § 1961(1)(A)).  In this case, the Complaint alleges that Defendants’ “racketeering 

activity” consisted solely of extortion, in violation of the Hobbs Act, 18 U.S.C. § 1951(a).  

Compl. ¶¶ 1, 91-92.  To satisfy the “racketeering activity” element of RICO, therefore, the 

Authority was required to plead that the Carpenters violated the Hobbs Act.  The Complaint 

utterly fails to do this. 

The Hobbs Act criminalizes conduct by which a person obtains or attempts to obtain 

“property from another, with his consent, induced by wrongful use of actual or threatened force, 

violence, or fear.”  18 U.S.C. § 1951(b)(2).  In the labor context, however, the Hobbs Act is 

limited significantly by the Supreme Court’s holding that the Act does not apply to acts 

committed by members of a labor organization seeking legitimate collective bargaining ends, 
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even if those acts might otherwise be violent or criminal.  United States v. Enmons, 410 U.S. 

396, 400 (1973).  In addition to triggering the Enmons labor exemption, the Complaint also fails 

to allege an actionable Hobbs Act violation for reasons that would apply equally to labor or non-

labor disputes.  We discuss each of these defects below. 

1. Enmons squarely bars the Complaint, which alleges misconduct solely 
in connection with legitimate labor objectives  

The defendants in Enmons—members and officials of Local 2286 of the International 

Brotherhood of Electrical Workers—were indicted under the Hobbs Act for violent acts they 

committed during a strike against their employer, Gulf State Utilities Company, to obtain higher 

wages.  410 U.S. at 397-98.  The alleged violence included “firing high-powered rifles at three 

Company transformers, draining the oil from a Company transformer, and blowing up a 

transformer substation owned by the Company.”  Id. at 398.  The Supreme Court held that the 

indictment did not describe an offense because “the use of violence to achieve legitimate union 

objectives, such as higher wages in return for genuine services which the employer seeks,” is 

categorically exempt from the Hobbs Act.  Id. at 400.  “In that type of case, there has been no 

‘wrongful’ taking of the employer’s property; he has paid for the services he bargained for, and 

the workers receive the wages to which they are entitled in compensation for their services.”  Id.   

The Complaint in this case presents a straightforward application of Enmons.  The 

Carpenters have a long history of providing show labor to exhibitors and customers at the Center, 

and for the past two years the Authority and the Carpenters have been embroiled in a labor 

dispute concerning the new CSA.  Compl. ¶¶ 2, 23.  The negotiations were heated and 

contentious, id. ¶¶ 24-27, and the Authority refused to accept the Carpenters’ signature on the 

new CSA, claiming that it was past the deadline, id. ¶¶ 29, 31.  The Authority thereafter refused 

to bargain with the Carpenters, and has not called the Carpenters to work at the Center since 
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May 9, 2014.  Id. ¶ 30.  The Carpenters have challenged the fairness and legality of the 

Authority’s lockout, both in legal proceedings and through public demonstrations and rallies.  

The incidental misconduct alleged in the Complaint occurred during these demonstrations and 

rallies.  Thus, the alleged acts of “extortion”—even if they may be characterized (dubiously) as 

“violent”—are well within the protections of Enmons, and cannot serve as the predicate to Hobbs 

Act liability.    

When presented with similar circumstances, courts have not hesitated to dismiss 

indictments or complaints because, under the Enmons doctrine, the Hobbs Act does not reach 

violence incidental to union activity.  See, e.g., Teamsters Local 372 v. Detroit Newspapers, 956 

F. Supp. 753, 757, 763 (E.D. Mich. 1997) (finding that Enmons required 12(b)(6) dismissal of 

employer’s civil RICO claims based on the Hobbs Act because the misconduct and violence at 

issue occurred during lawful strikes, pickets, and concerted activities in support of legitimate 

collective bargaining demands); Buck Creek Coal, Inc. v. United Mine Workers, 917 F. Supp. 

601, 612 (S.D. Ind. 1995) (finding that Enmons required 12(b)(6) dismissal of employer’s civil 

RICO claim based on the Hobbs Act because “the conduct alleged to violate the Hobbs Act was 

arguably undertaken in pursuit of legitimate union ends, and such conduct does not, therefore, 

constitute a Hobbs Act violation or a predicate act for RICO purposes”); see also United States v. 

Caldes, 457 F.2d 74, 75 (9th Cir. 1972) (reversing convictions and dismissing indictment under 

the Hobbs Act because “the Act was not intended to reach low level violence committed in 

connection with bona fide labor disputes between employers and employees”).  The same result 

is warranted here.   

The Enmons Court set forth two limited circumstances where violence related to 

objectives of labor unions could be actionable, but neither circumstance is present in this case.  
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First, the Enmons exemption does not apply when “union officials threatened force or violence 

against an employer in order to obtain personal payoffs.”  Enmons, 410 U.S. at 400 (emphasis 

added).  The Complaint does not allege any such thing; rather, the MRC’s goal is allegedly to 

end the lockout and return the Carpenters to work at the Center.  This is fully protected under 

Enmons.  Second, the exemption does not apply “where unions used the proscribed means to 

exact ‘wage’ payments from employers in return for ‘imposed, unwanted, superfluous and 

fictitious services’ of workers.”  Id. (footnote omitted).  This exception covers situations in 

which labor unions improperly seek “payment for work not performed” (known as 

“featherbedding”).  See Teamsters Local 372, 956 F. Supp. at 763.  But there is no allegation in 

the Complaint that the MRC or any individual Defendant is seeking something for nothing from 

the Authority.6  The Complaint alleges instead that the Carpenters signed the new CSA to 

continue their employment at the Center.  Compl. ¶ 31.  In this situation, the Carpenters would 

provide services at the Center, as they have done for decades, and would be paid a wage by 

Elliott-Lewis in return.  Accordingly, Enmons requires dismissal because the Complaint does not 

allege that the Carpenters sought to achieve anything but legitimate union objectives. 

2. Irrespective of Enmons, the Complaint does not plead a predicate 
Hobbs Act violation 

Even outside the context of a labor dispute, a complaint alleging a predicate Hobbs Act 

violation must allege facts showing that the defendant obtained (or attempted to obtain) property 

through the wrongful use of actual or threatened force, violence, or fear.  See 18 U.S.C. 

                                                 
6 By contrast, “featherbedding” was the issue in United States v. Dougherty, No. 14-69-9 & -10, 
2014 WL 3670129 (E.D. Pa. July 21, 2014) (Baylson, J.), where the court refused to dismiss an 
indictment under Enmons because union members allegedly forced an employer into a 
relationship where they “were hired ‘to do nothing’” and reported to work even though they “did 
not even know how to perform the work being done at the construction site.”  Id. at *4-5 (citation 
and internal quotation marks omitted). 
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§ 1951(b)(2).  Here, the Complaint fails in at least three respects:  It does not sufficiently allege 

force or violence; it does not allege actionable “fear” of economic loss; and it does not allege that 

the Carpenters obtained or tried to obtain any “property” within the meaning of the Hobbs Act. 

a. No allegations of actual or threatened force or violence 

The Complaint is peppered with vague references to “assault,” “battery,” “violence,” 

“stalking,” and “destruction of property.”  See, e.g., Compl. ¶¶ 5, 19, 37-38, 44, 46, 49.  To the 

extent these conclusory allegations are an effort to support a Hobbs Act claim based on “force” 

or “violence,” they are utterly insufficient.  The Complaint does not allege which Defendants, if 

any, committed such acts, referring instead to unnamed “Does 1-10” and “MRCC agents.”  See, 

e.g., id. ¶ 19 (“Does 1-10 participated in the violence, intimidation, assault, and destruction of 

property that occurred during the ‘Black Tie Tailgate’ event held at the [Center] . . . .” (emphasis 

added)); id. ¶ 37 (“MRCC agents harassed, physically assaulted, and threatened show labor 

workers outside the Convention Center.” (emphasis added)); id. ¶ 38 (“MRCC agents stalked 

building management and harassed them by loudly blowing whistles and air horns close to their 

persons, using profane and vulgar language, and acting in a physically menacing and 

intimidating fashion.” (emphasis added)); id. ¶ 44 (“MRCC agents harassed and threatened event 

attendees by blowing whistles directly into their ears and screaming at them.” (emphasis added)).  

Nor does it identify the purported victims or the circumstances surrounding the alleged acts.   

Instead, the Complaint makes the general, conclusory allegation that Defendants 

somehow “orchestrated” these acts.  See Compl. ¶ 49 (“Defendants hatched a scheme.”); id. ¶ 70 

(“All of these acts were orchestrated by Defendants.”).  Such allegations, however, are “naked 

assertions” and/or mere “legal conclusions” that are not entitled to the presumption of truth under 

Rule 12(b)(6).  Iqbal, 556 U.S. at 678, 680 (alteration and internal quotation marks omitted); see 

Morse v. Lower Merion Sch. Dist., 132 F.3d 902, 906 (3d Cir. 1997); Chester Cty. Aviation 
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Holdings, Inc. v. Chester Cty. Aviation Auth., 967 F. Supp. 2d 1098, 1105 (E.D. Pa. 2013).  To 

the extent the Complaint’s allegations of Hobbs Act “extortion” are based on alleged violence, 

therefore, they do not state a claim. 

b. No allegations of economic fear 

Without any sufficiently pleaded allegations of force or violence, the Complaint is left to 

allege that the Defendants tried to extort the Authority through “fear” induced by the Carpenters’ 

public demonstrations, online activity, and letter writing.  See supra Section D.1.  These 

allegations do not make out a claim for “wrongful use of . . . fear” within the meaning of the 

Hobbs Act.  18 U.S.C. § 1951(b)(2). 

First, the acts alleged in the Complaint are not “wrongful” as a matter of law because 

they are protected by the First Amendment.  See Thornhill v. Alabama, 310 U.S. 88, 102-04 

(1940) (holding that the First Amendment protects labor pickets and dissemination of 

information concerning the facts of a labor dispute); see also N.A.A.C.P. v. Claiborne Hardware 

Co., 458 U.S. 886, 911 (1982) (discussing prior Supreme Court precedent recognizing that 

“‘offensive’ and ‘coercive’ speech [i]s nevertheless protected by the First Amendment” (citations 

omitted)).  Indeed, the allegations here that concern the demonstrations and protests, distribution 

of flyers, postings to a website and other social media like Twitter, placement of an 

advertisement in a trade newspaper, and letters to public officials, Compl. ¶¶ 34-46, 73-74, 77-

79, are textbook First Amendment-protected activity.  They cannot, as a legal matter, form the 

basis of a Hobbs Act violation.  See, e.g., Palmetto State Med. Ctr. v. Operation Lifeline, 117 

F.3d 142, 149 n.9 (4th Cir. 1997) (reversing judgment for civil RICO liability under the Hobbs 

Act, in part, because the acts of distributing literature during and after a protest were “protected 

activity under the First Amendment”). 
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Second, the alleged economic pressure is not the sort of conduct the Hobbs Act 

criminalizes.  ‘“[T]here is nothing inherently wrongful about the use of economic fear to obtain 

property.’”  United Bhd. of Carpenters & Joiners of Am. v. Bldg. & Constr. Trades Dep’t, 770 

F.3d 834, 838 (9th Cir. 2014) (quoting United States v. Sturm, 870 F.2d 769, 773 (1st Cir. 

1989)).  On the contrary, “the fear of economic loss is a driving force of our economy that plays 

an important role in many legitimate business transactions.”  Brokerage Concepts, Inc. v. U.S. 

Healthcare, Inc., 140 F.3d 494, 523 (3d Cir. 1998).  Thus, acts creating economic “fear” can 

qualify as extortion only when the plaintiff had a legal right to operate its business free from the 

defendant’s acts.  Id. at 525-26.  That was not the case here.  The “wrongful” conduct alleged by 

the Complaint was designed to achieve a lawful union objective to reach a collective bargaining 

agreement.  In that situation, the use of economic fear is not extortionate; rather, it is merely 

“hard bargaining.”  Id. at 526.  Thus, the Complaint fails adequately to allege a wrongful use of 

actual or threatened force, violence, or fear to support a Hobbs Act violation. 

c. No allegations of obtaining property 

In addition to its failure to allege a “wrongful use of actual or threatened force, violence 

or fear,” the Complaint also fails to allege the Hobbs Act’s separate essential element that those 

wrongful acts must be committed to obtain property.  Notably, the Complaint never alleges that 

the Carpenters tried to extort money or any tangible thing from the Authority.  Any such 

allegation would be impossible because the Authority does not employ or compensate the 

Carpenters or other show labor at the Convention Center.  (Rather, as explained above, private 

contractors retain the Carpenters’ members and compensate them for their services through labor 

broker Elliott-Lewis.)  Instead, the Complaint alleges only an attempt to extort intangible rights 

from the Authority: 
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The goal of this illegal scheme has been, and remains, to force the [Authority] to 
surrender its valuable property rights associated with the CSA and the Convention 
Center, including:  [1] The rights and economic advantage granted to the 
[Authority] under the CSA; [2] The right to be free from being forced to accept 
unwanted, unnecessary, or fictitious work; [3] The right to control and operate its 
business free from unlawful coercion; and [4] The right to choose who to allow 
entry into and who to exclude from the Convention Center property for the 
purpose of serving its customers and exhibitors.  
 

Compl. ¶ 94. 

These allegations fail because, under governing Supreme Court precedent, such 

intangible rights do not qualify as “property” that can be “obtained” for Hobbs Act purposes.  

The Hobbs Act “requires that the victim part with his property . . . and that the extortionist gain 

possession of it.”  Sekhar v. United States, 133 S. Ct. 2720, 2725 (2013) (citations and internal 

quotation marks omitted); see Scheidler v. Nat’l Org. for Women, Inc. (“NOW2”), 537 U.S. 393, 

404 (2003) (holding that obtaining property requires “not only the deprivation but also the 

acquisition of property”).  The “obtaining” prong therefore requires that a defendant must pursue 

“something of value” from the victim that the defendant can “exercise, transfer, or sell.”  NOW2, 

537 U.S. at 404-05; see also Sekhar, 133 S. Ct. at 2725 (“The property extorted must . . . be 

transferable—that is, capable of passing from one person to another.”).  Thus, in NOW2, the 

Supreme Court held that, even though defendants “interfered with, disrupted, and in some 

instances completely deprived respondents of their ability to exercise their property rights,” 

“such acts did not constitute extortion because [defendants] did not ‘obtain’ respondents’ 

property.”  537 U.S. at 404-05. 

Under settled law, therefore, the Complaint does not state a Hobbs Act claim because it 

alleges only that Defendants sought to deprive the Authority of intangible, nontransferable 

property rights that Defendants cannot “exercise, transfer, or sell.” 
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B. The Complaint Does Not Allege a “Pattern” of Racketeering Activity 

Not only are the acts alleged in the Complaint not “racketeering activity,” they also do 

not comprise a “pattern” of such activity.  A RICO pattern “requires at least two acts of 

racketeering activity” occurring within a ten-year period.  18 U.S.C. § 1961(5).  To establish a 

pattern, a plaintiff must show that two or more racketeering predicate acts are related and 

“amount to or pose a threat of continued criminal activity.”  H.J. Inc. v. Nw. Bell Tel. Co., 492 

U.S. 229, 239 (1989).  This is referred to as the “continuity” requirement.  Continuity “is both a 

closed- and open-ended concept, referring either to a closed period of repeated conduct, or to 

past conduct that by its nature projects into the future with a threat of repetition.”  Id. at 241.  To 

state a claim, a plaintiff must sufficiently allege either closed- or open-ended continuity.  This 

Complaint alleges neither.  Rather, it alleges short-term conduct surrounding the Auto Show, 

which poses no threat of repetition. 

1. The Complaint does not allege closed-ended continuity 

Closed-ended continuity requires a “series of related predicates extending over a 

substantial period of time.”  Id. at 242.  It is well established in this Circuit that conduct lasting 

no more than twelve months fails to meet the standard for closed-ended continuity.  See, e.g., 

Tabas v. Tabas, 47 F.3d 1280, 1293 (3d Cir. 1995) (en banc) (“Since H.J. Inc., this court has 

faced the question of continued racketeering activity in several cases, each time finding that 

conduct lasting no more than twelve months did not meet the standard for closed-ended 

continuity.”); Hughes v. Consol-Pa. Coal Co., 945 F.2d 594, 611 (3d Cir. 1991) (holding that a 

twelve-month period of fraudulent conduct “is not a substantial period of time” and therefore 

fails to establish closed-ended continuity).  Here, even if all of the acts alleged in the Complaint 

constituted RICO predicates (which they do not), all of the purported acts spanned a total of less 

than 11 months—from May 2014 to April 2015. 
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The reality is that the Complaint’s core allegations relate to a period of only eight days, 

during the 2015 Auto Show, and therefore cannot allege a RICO pattern.  Compl. ¶¶ 49-72.  That 

conduct was confined to the Black Tie Event on January 30, 2015, and the first day of the Auto 

Show on February 7, 2015.  See supra Section D.2.  The Complaint also describes other 

organized labor protests and online or written speech occurring between May 2014 and April 

2015, see supra Section D.1, but these actions are obviously non-extortionate, and indeed they 

are core First Amendment-protected.  The eight-day period during the Auto Show unmistakably 

is the crux of the Complaint.  While the Carpenters’ actions at the Black Tie Event and Auto 

Show were by no stretch of the imagination “extortion,” in any event, an eight-day timeframe is 

insufficient to allege closed-ended continuity.   

2. The Complaint does not allege open-ended continuity 

Open-ended continuity requires a pattern of racketeering activity that threatens continued 

future racketeering activity.  H.J. Inc., 492 U.S. at 242; Tabas, 47 F.3d at 1292.  Such continuity 

“is sufficiently established where the predicates can be attributed to a defendant operating as part 

of a long-term association that exists for criminal purposes . . . [or] where it is shown that the 

predicates are a regular way of conducting defendant’s ongoing legitimate business . . . .”  H.J. 

Inc., 492 U.S. at 242-43.   

This Complaint does not come close to alleging open-ended continuity.  It alleges that the 

Carpenters engaged in legitimate demonstrations, protests, and speech over the course of roughly 

eleven months.  To the extent that any acts attributed to the Carpenters during the eight-day 

period surrounding the Auto Show are alleged (incorrectly) to have crossed the line into tortious 

behavior, there is no threat of continued activity.  Not a single allegation in the Complaint relates 

to a demonstration or rally after February 7, 2015.  In fact, in the wake of the Auto Show, the 

parties agreed to a “Stipulated Permanent Injunction” in a Pennsylvania state court action that 
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binds and enjoins both parties from undertaking certain acts.  See Ex. D.7  Among other things, 

the injunction permits the Carpenters to continue to demonstrate lawfully at the Center, while 

enjoining them from doing so in any unlawful manner.  Id.  Thus, there is no reason to believe 

that the acts alleged to have occurred at the Auto Show will be repeated in the future, and the 

Complaint does not so allege. 

Because the Complaint fails to allege the continuity required to establish “a pattern of 

racketeering activity,” the Court should dismiss the RICO claim. 

C. The Complaint Does Not Allege an “Enterprise” 

As another independent and sufficient basis for dismissal, the Complaint identifies no 

RICO “enterprise” other than an “association-in-fact” enterprise comprised of the Defendants 

themselves.  This is impermissible.  A claim under § 1962(c) requires a plaintiff to allege that the 

defendants are “employed by or associated with any enterprise.”  Thus, the “enterprise” must be 

separate and distinct from the defendants who are “employed by or associated with” it.  Cedric 

Kushner Promotions, Ltd. v. King, 533 U.S. 158, 161, 163 (2001) (internal quotation marks 

omitted) (holding that the § 1962(c) “distinctness principle” requires a plaintiff to “prove the 

existence of two distinct entities:  (1) a ‘person’; and (2) an ‘enterprise’ that is not simply the 

same ‘person’ referred to by a different name”). 

Because a legal entity must always act through employees or agents, a plaintiff cannot 

satisfy the “distinctness principle” by pleading that an enterprise consists of a defendant 

                                                 
7 The Complaint references the injunction, Compl. ¶¶ 71, 75, but fails to attach it to the 
Complaint or mention that it was an agreed injunction that binds both parties.  See Ex. D.  The 
injunction permits the Carpenters to continue to lawfully demonstrate at the Center, while 
enjoining it from doing so “unlawfully.”  Id.  Further, it enjoins the Authority “and their agents 
and employees” “from any and all acts or threats of violence, intimidation and coercion against 
[the MRC].”  Id. 
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corporation along with any individual employees, agents, or affiliated entities.  As the Third 

Circuit has explained:  

A corporation must always act through its employees and agents, and any 
corporate act will be accomplished through an “association” of these individuals 
or entities.  Consequently, the [distinctness] rule would be eviscerated if a 
plaintiff could successfully plead that the enterprise consists of a defendant 
corporation in association with employees, agents, or affiliated entities acting on 
its behalf. . . . Our decision is in accord with numerous courts that have rejected 
attempts to circumvent the distinctiveness requirement by alleging enterprises that 
are merely combinations of individuals or entities affiliated with a defendant 
corporation. 
 

Brittingham v. Mobil Corp., 943 F.2d 297, 301 (3d Cir. 1991), abrogated on other grounds by 

Jaguar Cars, Inc. v. Royal Oaks Motor Car Co., 46 F.3d 258, 268 (3d Cir. 1995); see also 

Newfield v. Shearson Lehman Bros., 699 F. Supp. 1124, 1126-27 (E.D. Pa. 1988) (dismissing a 

complaint naming a corporation and two of its employees as RICO defendants for failure to 

allege an enterprise distinct from defendants). 

Under these principles, the Complaint flunks the “distinctness” requirement because the 

MRC is both a defendant and—in combination with certain officers, employees and members—

the alleged enterprise.  See Compl. ¶ 89 (“Defendants are a group of individuals and a union 

associated in fact so as to form an ‘enterprise’ for the purpose of extorting and attempting to 

extort valuable property from the [Authority] (the ‘MRCC Enterprise’) within the meaning of 

18 U.S.C. § 1961(4).”).  This is exactly the theory of “enterprise” that the Third Circuit has 

rejected.  For this reason as well, the Complaint should be dismissed. 

D. The Complaint Does Not Allege that Defendants Proximately Caused Injury 
to Plaintiff’s Business or Property 

In addition to all of the fatal defects discussed above, the Complaint also fails to allege 

facts satisfying RICO’s stringent proximate causation requirement.  A civil RICO plaintiff has 

standing to recover only if he was “injured in his business or property by reason of a violation of 
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section 1962.”  18 U.S.C. § 1964(c); see Sedima, S.P.R.L. v. Imrex Co., 473 U.S. 479, 495 

(1985).  The “compensable injury” is limited to the harm to plaintiff’s business or property 

“caused by [the] predicate acts sufficiently related to constitute a pattern.”  Sedima, 473 U.S. at 

497.  The requirement that injuries occur “by reason of” predicate acts incorporates proximate 

causation as well as “but for” causation.  Hemi Grp., LLC v. City of New York, 559 U.S. 1, 9 

(2010) (internal quotation marks omitted); Holmes v. Sec. Inv’r Prot. Corp., 503 U.S. 258, 268-

69 (1992); Brokerage Concepts, Inc. v. U.S. Healthcare, Inc., 140 F.3d 494, 521 (3d Cir. 1998). 

As the Supreme Court has emphasized, the proximate cause component of a civil RICO 

claim is exceptionally exacting.  It requires “some direct relation between the injury asserted and 

the injurious conduct alleged”; a link that is “too remote,” “purely contingent,” or “indirect” is 

insufficient.  Hemi, 559 U.S. at 9 (alteration and internal quotation marks omitted); Holmes, 503 

U.S. at 271.  “[I]n the RICO context, the focus [of the proximate cause inquiry] is on the 

directness of the relationship between the conduct and the harm,” rather than on foreseeability.  

Hemi, 559 U.S. at 12.   

Importantly, in a RICO case, a claim of injury cannot be “purely contingent on the harm 

suffered by” a third party.  Holmes, 503 U.S. at 271.  Similarly, independent acts and decisions 

by third parties can defeat proximate causation.  Anderson v. Ayling, 396 F.3d 265, 270 (3d Cir. 

2005).  And the intervening decisions of a business’s customers are often too indirect and 

speculative to be the proximate cause of a RICO injury.  See Anza v. Ideal Steel Supply Corp., 

547 U.S. 451, 459-60 (2006) (holding that a corporate plaintiff failed to allege a RICO injury 

proximately caused by defendant’s conduct because “[b]usinesses lose and gain customers for 

many reasons” thus requiring “a complex assessment to establish” what portion of plaintiff’s 

injury was caused by the alleged acts and “[t]he element of proximate causation recognized in 
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Holmes is meant to prevent these types of intricate, uncertain inquiries from overrunning RICO 

litigation”). 

Here, the Complaint recites four supposed injuries, but each is far too indirect or remote 

from the Defendants’ alleged conduct.  First, the Authority seeks to recover “[e]xpenses incurred 

in reimbursing customers and exhibitors whose personal safety was threatened and property 

destroyed by Defendants and others acting at their direction.”  Compl. ¶ 95.  In other words, the 

Authority does not claim that its own property was destroyed; rather, Defendants allegedly 

caused losses to “customers and exhibitors,” which the Authority then reimbursed.  See id. ¶ 72.  

This is a non-starter under the Holmes line of cases, because any injury to the Authority for 

indemnifying third parties is “purely contingent” on its patrons’ injuries.  Holmes, 503 U.S. at 

271 (holding that a RICO plaintiff’s injury cannot be “purely contingent on the harm suffered 

by” a non-plaintiff).      

 Second, the Authority claims injuries caused by the intervening acts of third parties, in 

the form of “canceled shows, lost customers, and lost booking fees.”  Compl. ¶ 95.  The 

Complaint does not actually allege a single canceled show.  It does identify one lost customer, 

the Chester County Democratic Committee, which allegedly “advised the [Authority] that, in 

response to Defendant Coryell Sr.’s letter, it would not host or attend any event held at the 

Convention Center during the Democratic National Convention” in 2016.  Id. ¶ 79.  That is a 

prototypical independent business decision of a third party, which defeats proximate causation as 

a matter of law.  See Anderson, 396 F.3d at 270 (describing, inter alia, an employer’s decision to 

fire employees as an intervening cause of harm that interrupts proximate causation).  

Incidentally, the Complaint’s allegation describes the Chester Committee’s cancellation as a 

response to Mr. Coryell’s letter, which complained of the Authority’s treatment of the 
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Carpenters—suggesting that the cancellation was an act of solidarity with the Carpenters, not a 

response to allegedly extortionate threats.   

Third, the Authority seeks to recover “[c]osts associated with increased security and 

security measures to respond to and protect against Defendants’ multiple disruptions of 

[Authority] events and assaults upon [Authority] property, customers, exhibitors, vendors, 

contractors, and employees.”  Compl. ¶ 95.  This claim fails because the security costs are not 

alleged to have resulted directly from any acts of racketeering.  Sedima, 473 U.S. at 496 

(“[P]laintiff only has standing if, and can only recover to the extent that, he has been injured in 

his business or property by the conduct constituting the violation.”).  The Authority’s general 

decision to beef up security out of concern that the Carpenters may protest is not proximately 

caused by any act of racketeering, and it is in any event an intervening decision by the Authority.  

Also, determining how much in added security costs may have been attributable to racketeering 

acts, as opposed to other factors—including legitimate protests—would require “intricate, 

uncertain inquiries,” making such damages unrecoverable in a RICO case.  Anza, 547 U.S. at 

460.   

 Fourth, the Authority seeks to recover “[l]egal fees incurred directly and solely in 

responding to and obtaining protection from Defendants’ extortionate conduct.”  Compl. ¶ 95.  

The Complaint alleges legal fees from two different proceedings.  It claims that the contractors 

have had to undertake an “expensive and time-consuming” defense of “frivolous grievances” 

filed by the MRC against various contractors working at the Center.  Id. ¶ 80.  These fees are not 

recoverable RICO damages for multiple reasons:   

• The Authority lacks standing:  The Complaint does not allege any injury to the 
Authority’s business or property from the grievances; it instead alleges only that the 
contractors have had to incur legal fees in their NLRB dispute with the MRC.  Compl. 
¶¶ 80-82.  The Complaint does not allege that the Authority indemnified any contractors 
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for their legal fees, but even if it did, any such claim would fail the “directness” 
requirement for RICO’s proximate causation prong.  Holmes, 503 U.S. at 269, 271 
(RICO plaintiff’s injury cannot be “purely contingent on the harm suffered by” a non-
plaintiff).   

• They are preempted by the labor laws:  Because claims for frivolous grievances in labor 
disputes arise under the NLRA, the NLRB has exclusive jurisdiction to hear such claims.  
See San Diego Bldg. Trades Council v. Garmon, 359 U.S. 236, 245 (1959) (holding that 
“[w]hen an activity is arguably subject to § 7 or § 8 of the [NLRA], the States as well as 
the federal courts must defer to the exclusive competence of the National Labor Relations 
Board”).     

The Complaint also identifies legal fees from a separate proceeding in which the 

Authority sought an injunction in state court against Defendants’ protests.  See Compl. ¶ 75.  The 

decision to seek an injunction against future protests was the Authority’s, not the Carpenters’.  In 

any event, this is not a cognizable claim for RICO damages, but rather an attempt to circumvent 

Pennsylvania’s fee-shifting rules, which do not allow recovery of attorney’s fees.  See Merlino v. 

Delaware County, 728 A.2d 949, 951 (Pa. 1999); 42 Pa. Cons. Stat. § 2503 (restricting the right 

to recovery of attorney’s fees to limited circumstances specified by statute).  The Authority was 

not permitted to recover its fees in the state-court action, and it certainly cannot recover them 

through an end-run in this Court.   

II. THE COMPLAINT DOES NOT ALLEGE A RICO CONSPIRACY UNDER 
§ 1962(d) 

For many of the same reasons, Count II of the Complaint should be dismissed for failure 

to plead a cognizable RICO conspiracy claim.  It is well established that a plaintiff cannot claim 

that a conspiracy to violate RICO existed if it does not adequately plead that the conspiracy 

encompassed all the elements of a substantive violation of RICO.  Thus, a RICO conspiracy 

claim “must be dismissed if the complaint does not adequately allege ‘an endeavor which, if 

completed, would satisfy all of the elements of a substantive [RICO] offense.’”  In re Ins. 

Brokerage Antitrust Litig., 618 F.3d 300, 373 (3d Cir. 2010) (quoting Salinas v. United States, 
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522 U.S. 52, 65 (1997)); see Lightning Lube, Inc. v. Witco Corp., 4 F.3d 1153, 1191 (3d Cir. 

1993) (“Any claim under section 1962(d) based on a conspiracy to violate the other subsections 

of section 1962 necessarily must fail if the substantive claims are themselves deficient.”).  

Because the Complaint fails to plead a substantive violation of RICO under § 1962(c), its RICO 

conspiracy claim under § 1962(d) also must fail. 

Even assuming arguendo that the Complaint adequately pleads a substantive RICO 

claim, it independently fails to plead a RICO conspiracy.  A RICO conspiracy requires that a 

conspirator agree to facilitate an endeavor which, if completed, would satisfy all of the elements 

of a substantive RICO offense.  Salinas, 522 U.S. at 65.  The Complaint does not allege any facts 

supporting a claim that each Defendant entered into an agreement to further or facilitate a 

scheme that would satisfy all of the elements of a substantive RICO offense, including Hobbs 

Act extortion.  Rather, it contains only conclusory statements that are legally insufficient—e.g., 

that Defendants “hatched a scheme to force the [Authority] to abandon the CSA and surrender 

work performed by other hard-working union members to the Carpenters through a campaign of 

illegal violence and intimidation,” Compl. ¶ 4, and that “Defendants conceived an extortionate 

plan to disrupt key shows scheduled to take place at that facility through a series of illegal mass 

pickets,” id. ¶ 33.  The Supreme Court has rejected this type of conclusory pleading in the 

context of conspiracy allegations.  See Iqbal, 556 U.S. at 678, 680 (holding that “naked 

assertions” and mere “legal conclusions” that are unsubstantiated by alleged facts are not entitled 

to the presumption of truth under Rule 12(b)(6) (alteration and internal quotation marks 

omitted)).  Accordingly, the Complaint fails to plead a valid claim for a RICO conspiracy under 

§ 1962(d). 
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III. THE COMPLAINT’S TRESPASS TO CHATTELS CLAIM AGAINST “DOES     
1-4” ALSO FAILS 

The Complaint finally alleges that unnamed “Does 1-4”—not the MRC or any named 

individual Defendants—intentionally used or intermeddled with vehicles at the Center during the 

Auto Show.  Compl. ¶¶ 101-102.  Because this claim is not brought against any named 

Defendant, and lacks any semblance of particularity, it should be dismissed for failure to plead 

wrongful conduct.  If it is not dismissed on the merits, the Court nevertheless should decline to 

exercise supplemental jurisdiction over this state-law claim.  28 U.S.C. § 1367(c)(3) provides 

that a district court “may decline to exercise supplemental jurisdiction” when it “has dismissed 

all claims over which it has original jurisdiction.”  Here, the Court has original jurisdiction over 

Plaintiff’s RICO claims; if those are dismissed, there is no reason to retain jurisdiction of this 

state-law claim against unidentified defendants.  In that instance, “once the crutch of the federal 

question issue is removed . . . the state law issue should not remain for adjudication.”  Overall v. 

Univ. of Pa., 393 F. Supp. 2d 341, 342 (E.D. Pa. 2005) (alterations and internal quotation marks 

omitted). 

CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, the moving Defendants respectfully request that the Court 

dismiss the Complaint.  In light of the extensive defects in the Complaint, further amendment 

would be futile and thus the dismissal should be with prejudice.  See Sarpolis v. Tereshko, 26 F. 

Supp. 3d 407, 431 (E.D. Pa. 2014) (dismissing plaintiff’s civil RICO claim with prejudice when 

“extensive deficiencies” in the complaint rendered amendment futile). 
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Dated:  June 30, 2015 Respectfully submitted, 

 /s/ Craig D. Singer 
 Craig D. Singer (PA ID No. 71394) 

Jonathan M. Landy (pro hac vice) 
R. Kennon Poteat, III (pro hac vice) 
Nicholas A. Nasrallah (pro hac vice) 
WILLIAMS & CONNOLLY LLP 
725 Twelfth Street, N.W. 
Washington, DC 20005 
Telephone: (202) 434-5000 
Facsimile: (202) 434-5029 
 
Counsel for Defendants Edward Coryell, Sr., 
Edward Coryell, Jr., J.R. Hocker, Richard 
Rivera, Ronald Curran, Kenyatta Bundy, and  
Metropolitan Regional Council of Carpenters 

 

  

Case 2:15-cv-02534-LFR   Document 24-1   Filed 06/30/15   Page 33 of 34



 29 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
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 /s/ R. Kennon Poteat, III 
 R. Kennon Poteat, III (pro hac vice) 

WILLIAMS & CONNOLLY LLP 
725 Twelfth Street, N.W. 
Washington, DC 20005 
Telephone: (202) 434-5000 
Facsimile: (202) 434-5029 
 
Counsel for Defendants Edward Coryell, Sr., 
Edward Coryell, Jr., J.R. Hocker, Richard 
Rivera, Ronald Curran, Kenyatta Bundy, and  
Metropolitan Regional Council of Carpenters 
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UNITED STATES GOVERNMENT 
NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD 

REGION 04 
	

Agency Website: www.nlrb.gov  
615 Chestnut St Ste 710 
	

Telephone: (215)597-7601 
Philadelphia, PA 19106-4413 

	
Fax: (215)597-7658 

July 14, 2014 

Stephen J. Holroyd, Esquire 
Jennings Sigmond 
Penn Mutual Towers, 16th Fir. 
510 Walnut Street 
Philaelphia, PA 19106-3683 

Thomas H. Kohn, Equire 
Markowitz & Richman 
123 South Broad Street 
Suite 2020 
Philadelphia, PA 19109 

Re: 	Pennsylvania Convention Center Authority, 
SMG and Elliott-Lewis Corp., Joint 
Employer 
Cases 04-CA-128505 and 04-CA-128506 

Dear Mr. Holroyd and Mr. Kohn: 

We have carefully investigated and considered your charges that Pennsylvania 
Convention Center Board of Directors and SMG Convention Venue Management, SMG and 
Elliott-Lewis Corp. have violated the National Labor Relations Act. 

Decision to Dismiss: As a result of the investigation, I find that further proceedings are 
unwarranted. The charge alleges that Pennsylvania Convention Center Authority (the 
Authority), SMG and Elliott-Lewis Corp. (Elliott-Lewis), as alleged joint employers, engaged in 
bad faith bargaining with Metropolitan Regional Council of Carpenters (Carpenters) and 
Teamsters Local 107 (Teamsters) in violation of Section 8(a)(5) of the Act during their 2014 
negotiations for a Customer Service Agreement (CSA) covering work at the Convention Center. 
SMG acted as the agent of the Authority in these negotiations with six unions.' 

'Metropolitan Regional Council of Carpenters, IBEW Local 98, Laborers Local 332, Stagehands 
Local 8, Iron Workers Local 161 and Teamsters Local 107. 
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Pennsylvania Convention Center Authority, - 2 
SMG and Elliott-Lewis Corp., Joint 
Employer 
Case 04-CA-128505 

Initial efforts to renegotiate the CSA upon its July 15, 2013 expiration did not yield an 
agreement, and negotiations were postponed until early 2014. During this period of time, 
employees of the six unions involved operated under the terms of the expired CSA, and those 
terms were extended into 2014. Elliott-Lewis did not participate in the CSA negotiations. The 
parties held multiple meetings in the expectation that an agreement would be reached by April 
30, 2014, which was the expiration of the collective-bargaining agreement between Elliott-Lewis 
and the Carpenters. During the early morning hours of May 1, 2014, the parties reached a 
tentative agreement that SMG was to present to the Authority's governing board for its approval. 
Instead, the board rejected the proposal and the Carpenters commenced a work stoppage. By 
letter dated May 4, 2014, the Authority delivered an ultimatum to the six unions to sign the 
Authority's revised CSA proposal by 11:59 PM on May 5 or risk that the work jurisdiction of the 
Unions would be reallocated to the Unions that did sign the revised CSA proposal. The 
Carpenters and the Teamsters did not sign, and, true to the Authority's threat, the Carpenters' 
work was reallocated to the four unions that executed the CSA. The Charging Parties allege that 
bargaining was not at an impasse at that point and that the Authority engaged in conduct in 
violation of Section 8(a)(5) of the Act by: (1) offering its proposal on a take-it-or-leave-it basis; 
(2) refusing to continue bargaining; (3) repudiating its bargaining relationship with, and 
withdrawing recognition from, the Charging Parties; (4) unilaterally reassigning the Charging 
Parties' work jurisdictions without bargaining with the Charging Parties; and (5) refusing to 
restore the scope of their work notwithstanding that the Carpenters and the Teamsters on May 9, 
accepted the Authority's CSA proposal. 

The Charging Parties have presented evidence of extensive conduct supporting findings 
that the Authority acted in derogation of bargaining obligations imposed by Section 8(a)(5) of 
the Act. However, the investigation disclosed that the Authority is a political subdivision of the 
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania within the meaning of Section 2(2) of the Act, and therefore is 
not an employer subject to the Act's jurisdiction. The Authority was created pursuant to the 
Pennsylvania Convention Center Authority Act to promote economic growth and tourism 
through the operation of the Convention Center. The Authority is governed by a 15-member 
governing board appointed by various municipal, county and Commonwealth officials with full 
authority to manage the affairs and property of the Authority. In addition, the Authority is vested 
with the power to exercise eminent domain and has sovereign immunity. The Authority is 
subject to the Pennsylvania Right-To-Know Act, which provides public access to its documents. 
According to the operating agreement for the Convention Center, the Commonwealth is 
financially responsible for all costs of the Convention Center and has the right to review and 
approve the Authority's annual capital and operating budgets and certain large contracts. The 
Commonwealth's approval is required regarding the hiring of any contract management firm to 
oversee the Convention Center's operations. 	Under the operating agreement, the 
Commonwealth also has the right to conduct management and financial audits of the Authority's 
operations and to institute corrective action plans where appropriate, and if necessary, to assume 
management control of the Convention Center until such time as the deficiency has been 
corrected. 
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SMG and Elliott-Lewis Corp., Joint 
Employer 
Case 04-CA-128505 

The Act does not define what constitutes an exempt political subdivision, but the Board 
and the courts have held that the exemption rests with entities that are (1) created directly by the 
state so as to constitute a department or administrative arm of the government, or (2) 
administered by individuals who are responsible to public officials or to the general electorate. 
NLRB v. Natural Gas Utility District of Hawkins County, 402 U.S. 600 (1971). Based on the 
facts set forth above, under both prongs of this test, the Authority is an exempt political 
subdivision, and is thus not an employer within the meaning of Section 2(2) of the Act and 
subject to the jurisdiction of the Board. Hinds County Human Resource Agency, 331 NLRB 
1404 (2000); University of Vermont, 297 NLRB 291 (1989); cf. Charter School Administrative 
Services, 353 NLRB 394 (2008). 

There is also no legal basis for holding either of the private sector entities, SMG or 
Elliott-Lewis, liable under Section 8(a)(5) of the Act. There is no evidence that SMG has any 
direct employment relationship with any of the employees covered by the CSA, so there is no 
basis for finding that it is a joint employer with the Authority. SMG acted as the Authority's 
agent in negotiating the CSA, but an agent cannot generally be held liable for the conduct of its 
principal. Elliot-Lewis employs the employees covered by the CSA, and based on the terms and 
conditions of employment which the Authority has negotiated in the CSA, the Authority is 
arguably a joint employer with Elliot-Lewis. Elliot-Lewis, however, took no part in the 
negotiations during the time when the alleged unlawful conduct occurred. Accordingly, as the 
only party which could be held liable for that alleged conduct is a political subdivision not 
subject to the Board's jurisdiction, I am refusing to issue Complaint in this matter. 

Your Right to Appeal: You may appeal my decision to the General Counsel of the 
National Labor Relations Board, through the Office of Appeals. If you appeal, you may use the 
enclosed Appeal Form, which is also available at www.nlrb.gov.  However, you are encouraged to 
also submit a complete statement of the facts and reasons why you believe my decision was 
incorrect. 

Means of Filing: An appeal may be filed electronically, by mail, by delivery service, or 
hand-delivered. Filing an appeal electronically is preferred but not required. The appeal MAY 
NOT be filed by fax or email. To file an appeal electronically, go to the Agency's website at 
www.nlrb.gov,  click on E-File Documents, enter the NLRB Case Number, and follow the 
detailed instructions. To file an appeal by mail or delivery service, address the appeal to the 
General Counsel at the National Labor Relations Board, Attn: Office of Appeals, 1099 14th 
Street, N.W., Washington D.C. 20570-0001. Unless filed electronically, a copy of the appeal 
should also be sent to me. 

Appeal Due Date: The appeal is due on Monday, July 28, 2014. If the appeal is filed 
electronically, the transmission of the entire document through the Agency's web site must be 
completed no later than 11:59 p.m. Eastern Time on the due date. If filing by mail or by 
delivery service an appeal will be found to be timely filed if it is postmarked or given to a 
delivery service no later than Sunday, July 27, 2014. If an appeal is postmarked or given to a 
delivery service on the due date, it will be rejected as untimely. If hand delivered, an appeal 
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SMG and Elliott-Lewis Corp., Joint 
Employer 
Case 04-CA-128505 

must be received by the General Counsel in Washington D.C. by 5:00 p.m. Eastern Time on the 
appeal due date. If an appeal is not submitted in accordance with this paragraph, it will be 
rejected. 

Extension of Time to File Appeal: The General Counsel may allow additional time to 
file the appeal if the Charging Party provides a good reason for doing so and the request for an 
extension of time is received on or before Monday, July 28, 2014. The request may be filed 
electronically through the E-File Documents link on our website www.nlrb.gov,  by fax to 
(202)273-4283, by mail, or by delivery service. The General Counsel will not consider any 
request for an extension of time to file an appeal received after Monday, July 28, 2014, even if 
it is postmarked or given to the delivery service before the due date. Unless filed 
electronically, a copy of the extension of time should also be sent to me. 

Confidentiality: We will not honor any claim of confidentiality or privilege or any 
limitations on our use of appeal statements or supporting evidence beyond those prescribed by 
the Federal Records Act and the Freedom of Information Act (FOIA). Thus, we may disclose an 
appeal statement to a party upon request during the processing of the appeal. If the appeal is 
successful, any statement or material submitted with the appeal may be introduced as evidence at 
a hearing before an administrative law judge. Because the Federal Records Act requires us to 
keep copies of case handling documents for some years after a case closes, we may be required 
by the FOIA to disclose those documents absent an applicable exemption such as those that 
protect confidential sources, commercial/financial information, or personal privacy interests. 

Very truly yours, 

m/i/JA 
DENNIS P. WALSH 
Regional Director 

Enclosure 

cc: 	Edward Coryell, President 
Metropolitian Regional Council 

of Carpenters 
1803 Spring Garden Street 
Philadelphia, PA 19130-3916 
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John McNichol 
Pennsylvania Convention Center Board of 
Directors and SMG Convention Venue 
Management 
1101 Arch Street 
Philadelphia, PA 19107 

Michael J. Hanlon, Esquire 
Lauren Fox, Esquire 
Buchanan, Ingersoll & Rooney, P.C. 
50 South 16th Street, Suite 3200 
Two Liberty Place 
Philadelphia, PA 19102-2555 

Robert McClintock 
SMG 
300 Conshohocken State Road 
Suite 450 
West Conshohocken, PA 19428 

Mark J. Foley, Esquire 
Emily S. Miller, Esquire 
Cozen O'Connor 
1900 Market Street 
Philadelphia, PA 19103 

Elliott-Lewis Corp. 
2900 Black Lake Place 
Philadelphia, PA 19154 

Teamsters Local 107 
12275 Townsend Road 
Philadelphia, PA 19154 
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Form NLRB-4767 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD 

APPEAL FORM 

To: General Counsel 
Attn: Office of Appeals 
National Labor Relations Board 
Room 8820, 1099 - 14th Street, N.W. 
Washington, DC 20570-0001 

Date: 

Please be advised that an appeal is hereby taken to the General Counsel of the National 
Labor Relations Board from the action of the Regional Director in refusing to issue a complaint 
on the charges in 

Pennsylvania Convention Center Authority, SMG and Elliott-Lewis Corp., Joint Employer  
Case Name(d). 

Cases 04-CA-128505 and 04-CA-128506 
Case No(s). (If more than one case number, include all case numbers in which appeal is taken.) 

(Signature) 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA 

 
PENNSYLVANIA CONVENTION CENTER 
AUTHORITY, 
 

Plaintiff, 
 

v. 
 
EDWARD CORYELL, SR.; EDWARD 
CORYELL, JR.; J.R. HOCKER; RICHARD 
RIVERA; RONALD CURRAN; KENYATTA 
BUNDY; RICHARD WASHLICK; DOES 1-10; 
and METROPOLITAN REGIONAL COUNCIL 
OF CARPENTERS, 
 

Defendants. 
 

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
) 

Civil Action No. 2:15-cv-02534-LFR 
 
 
Judge L. Felipe Restrepo 

 
[PROPOSED] ORDER 

UPON CONSIDERATION of the Motion to Dismiss Plaintiff’s Complaint for Failure to 

State a Claim, and for good cause shown, it is hereby 

ORDERED that the Motion to Dismiss for Failure to State a Claim is GRANTED and the 

above captioned case is hereby dismissed with prejudice. 

SO ORDERED. 

 

ENTERED this _____ day of _______, 2015.  

  
 Judge L. Felipe Restrepo 

United States District Court  
for the Eastern District of Pennsylvania 
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